Respiratory Medicine (2007) 101, 2233-2239



EVIDENCE-BASED REVIEW

Systematic review of the effects of chronic disease management on quality-of-life in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

A. Niesink^a, J.C.A. Trappenburg^{a,*}, G.H. de Weert-van Oene^a, J.W.J. Lammers^b, T.J.M. Verheij^a, A.J.P. Schrijvers^a

^aJulius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, P.O. Box 85500, 3508 GA, Utrecht, The Netherlands ^bDepartment of Respiratory Medicine, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands

Received 8 February 2007; accepted 4 July 2007 Available online 4 September 2007

KEYWORDS Summary Systematic review; Introduction: Chronic disease management for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) may improve quality, outcomes and access to care. COPD; Objective: To investigate effectiveness of chronic disease management programmes on Quality of life; the quality-of-life of people with COPD. Integrated care Methods: Medline and Embase (1995-2005) were searched for relevant articles, and reference lists and abstracts were searched for controlled trials of chronic disease management programmes for patients with COPD. Quality-of-life was assessed as an outcome parameter. Two reviewers independently reviewed each paper for methodological quality and extracted the data. Results: We found 10 randomized-controlled trials comparing chronic disease management with routine care. Patient populations, health-care professionals, intensity, and content of the intervention were heterogeneous. Different instruments were used to assess quality of life. Five out of 10 studies showed statistically significant positive outcomes on one or more domains of the quality of life instruments. Three studies, partly located in primary care, showed positive results. Conclusions: All chronic disease management projects for people with COPD involving primary care improved quality of life. In most of the studies, aspects of chronic disease management were applied to a limited extent. Quality of randomized-controlled trials was

*Corresponding author. Tel.:+31 30 2538123; fax: +31 30 2505482. *E-mail address*: J.C.A.Trappenburg@umcutrecht.nl (J.C.A. Trappenburg).

0954-6111/\$-see front matter © 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2007.07.017

respiratoryMEDICINE 🔙

not optimal. More research is needed on chronic disease management programmes in patients with COPD across primary and secondary care. © 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction	2234
Methods	2234
Devide	2231
Results	2235
Study selection	2235
Content of the interventions	2235
Patient characteristics	2235
Methodological quality	2236
	2230
Synthesis of the findings	2236
Discussion	2236
Conclusion	2238
Practice points	2238
Preserve directions	2220
	2230
Conflict of interest	2239
Acknowledgements	2239
References	2239

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality across the world, and its prevalence continues to increase.¹ COPD places a burden on the health-care system and reduces health-related quality of life (HRQOL).^{2,3} According to current guidelines, stable COPD is managed using a combination of smoking cessation, pharmacological therapy, education, pulmonary rehabilitation, nutritional interventions, vaccinations, oxygen therapy and surgery.^{1,4-7} This multi-component management of COPD usually involves the use of many health-care providers. In spite of the given guidelines, it is still unclear what is the most effective approach of delivering and coordinating comprehensive and multidisciplinary care along the disease continuum and across the different health-care systems. In addition, it is conceptually unclear how such programmes should be defined.⁸ A wide range of definitions and concepts have been used for changes in healthcare delivery (i.e. transmural care, shared care, multidisciplinary care, integrated care and disease management). The most frequently used innovative approach to avoid fragmentation and discontinuity of health care is chronic disease management. Chronic disease management programmes are interventions designed to manage or prevent a chronic condition using a systematic approach to care, with the potential use of multiple treatment modalities.⁹ Compared with traditional healthcare delivery, care delivered using chronic disease management is organized, proactive and integrated.¹⁰ Particularly, integration of health care is a potential method of improving quality, access, user satisfaction and efficiency of care for patients with chronic illness.^{8,9,11} The World Health Organization defines integrated healthcare services as a concept of bringing together inputs, delivery, management and organization of services related to diagnosis, treatment, care, rehabilitation and health promotion.¹¹

In assessing the effectiveness of treatment for COPD, the appropriate selection of outcome measurement is critical. Objective pulmonary function parameters, such as forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁), provide the clinician with an appropriate means of diagnosis, stage severity and prognosis of COPD. However, reduction in FEV₁ is only weakly associated with the patient's perception of symptoms and health-HRQOL.¹² Furthermore, HRQOL is dynamic within the individual, varying with changes in both disease intensity and expectations of health.¹³ Exacerbation of COPD is a particularly important, negative influence on HRQOL.³ Consequently, improving quality of life is considered to be a major goal in widely recognized guidelines for the management of COPD.^{1,4-7} The objective of this systematic review is to summarize the effects of integrating care within chronic disease management programmes on quality of life in people with COPD.

Methods

For this systematic review, Medline and Embase were searched between 1995 and 2006; using the following key words: 'COPD' or 'chronic obstructive pulmonary disease' or 'pulmonary emphysema' or 'chronic bronchitis'; and 'quality of life' or 'health status' or 'health status indicators'.

We selected only randomized-controlled studies comparing quality of life outcomes in outpatient chronic disease management programmes and routine care. We particularly focused on the level of integration or interconnection of COPD-care disciplines or healthcare systems. We excluded studies aimed exclusively at evaluations of methods of case finding, prevention strategies, provider education or provider feedback. Programmes were considered to be integrated care if at least one of the following components was present: (1) multidisciplinary care team, (2) clinical pathway, (3) clinical follow-up, (4) case management, or

	Inclusion criteria	Number of studies excluded	Cumulative number of studies
Identification of studies Title and abstract screening		2000	2098 98
Methodological criteria	Randomized-controlled trial Control group with care-as-usual	41 13	57 44
Study population criteria	Clinical diagnosed COPD patients stable at inclusion	3	41
Intervention criteria	Outpatient integrated care programme*	9	32
	Duration of at least 8 weeks	4	28
Outcome measurements	General or disease-specific instrument measuring quality of life	18	10

 Table 1
 Inclusion criteria and study flow from identification to final inclusion.

COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

*Outpatient programme, including at least one of the following components: (1) multidisciplinary care team, (2) clinical pathway, (3) clinical follow-up, (4) case management, and (5) self-management or patient education.

(5) self-management or patient education.⁸ Additional inclusion criteria used to select studies are shown in Table 1. Studies published before 1995 were not considered for inclusion, as new guidelines for management of COPD were published in 1995.^{1,4–7} The reference lists of the selected studies and relevant reviews were inspected for additional papers. Two reviewers (AN and GdW) independently evaluated the full text of all retrieved papers, made a decision on inclusion or exclusion, and discussed the decisions. Any disagreement was resolved by consensus, with close attention to inclusion and exclusion criteria. Data were collected using a standardized abstraction form. To assess methodological quality, criteria developed by the Cochrane Back Review Group were used.¹⁴ The following 11 criteria were assessed: adequate randomization procedure, concealment of treatment allocation, similarity of baseline characteristics, blinding of patients, blinding of care provider, outcome assessor blinded to the intervention, co-interventions avoided or equal, compliance, withdrawal or drop-out rate, similarity of timing outcome assessment, and intention-to-treat analyses. A total score was computed by counting the number of criteria that were met. High quality was defined as fulfilling six or more of the 11 validity criteria.

To determine the effects of chronic disease management programmes on the quality of life of people with COPD, included studies were analysed for statistically significant differences ($P \le 0.05$), as well as clinically significant differences in quality of life. Missing data from the primary study reports were requested from the investigators.

Results

Study selection

An overview of the study selection process is shown in Table 1. The initial search strategy identified 2098 references. After screening titles and abstracts, 98 potentially relevant articles were identified. Ten randomized-controlled trials met all our inclusion criteria. $^{\rm 15-24}$

Content of the interventions

Characteristics of the included studies are described in Table 2. All programmes contained education, and nine studies included exercise training; however, the study by Rea et al.¹⁶ carried out a care plan, consisting of a timetable for regular maintenance checks and setting achievable goals for lifestyle changes. Monninkhof et al.¹⁵ and Bourbeau et al.¹⁷ used an action plan to improve self-management in case of exacerbations. The interventions studied also included scheduled appointments with a doctor to monitor patients, ^{20,24} psychosocial support,²¹ relaxation techniques^{21,23} smoking cessation,²² breathing retraining, ^{18–20,23,24} recreational activities for patients²³ and occupational therapy.²²

Duration of the interventions varied from 2 to 18 months. The frequency of contact with care providers differed from 4h daily to 2h a week. Most interventions took place in secondary care. Three interventions were located in primary care, and included general practitioners, nurses, and physiotherapists.^{16,23,24} In secondary care, besides nurses and physiotherapists, clinicians, occupational therapists, psychologists, dieticians and social workers were also involved. The number of disciplines included in the studies reviewed ranged from two to seven.

Patient characteristics

Patient characteristics of the populations studied are shown in Table 3. Because of differences in inclusion criteria, the proportion of men and women, and the degree of airflow limitation as measured by FEV_1 as a percentage of the predicted value, differed among the studies. Patients' mean

Reference	Follow- up (months)	Quality of study	Number of providers primary care/ secondary care	Content intervention group*									
				I	II	111	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII	IX	Х
Rea et al., ¹⁶ New Zealand	12	6	2/2	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1
Monninkhof et al., ¹⁵ The Netherlands	12	8	0/3	1	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Bourbeau et al., ¹⁷ Canada	12	8	0/3	1	_	3	_	_	_	_	_	_	1
Güell et al., ¹⁸ Spain	12	7	0/2	1	_	3	3	_	_	_	_	_	_
Ringbeak et al., ¹⁹ Denmark	2	3	0/5	3	_	3	3	_	_	_	_	_	_
Engström et al., ²⁰ Sweden	12	6/7	0/5	1	1	2	2	_	_	_	_	_	_
Emery et al., USA ²¹	2.5	6	0/2	a:3 b:3	-	a:3 b: -	-	a:3 b:3	-	-	-	a:2/ b:2	-
Bendstrup et al., ²² Denmark	3	4	0/7	2	-	3	-	-	-	1	1	-	-
Cambach et al., ²³ The Netherlands	3	4	3/1	3	-	3	3	2	2	-	-	-	-
Wijkstra et al., ²⁴ The Netherlands	18	5	3/1	c:1 d:1	C:1 d:1	c:3 d:1	c:3 d:1	-	-	-	-	-	-

 Table 2
 Characteristics of studies included in the review.

*(I) Education, (II) scheduled visit physician, (III) exercise, (IV) breathing retraining, (V) relaxation techniques, (VI) recreation, (VII) occupational therapy, (VIII) smoking cessation support, (IX) psychological support, (X) action plan. –: absent; 1: less than once a week; 2: once a week; 3: more than once a week. a: intervention with exercise; b: intervention without exercise; c: intervention with weekly session physiotherapist; d: intervention of a monthly session with a physiotherapist.

age was approximately equal among the studies, varying from 62 to 69 years. The number of participants included in the studies was relatively small. Seven out of 10 studies included fewer than 30 patients in the intervention or control group.

Methodological quality

In general, the methodological quality of the studies included in this review was moderate (Table 3). Six studies achieved six or more positive scores on the validity criteria, the determined threshold for high quality. All included studies were randomized-controlled trials. None of the studies were double-blinded, because blinding of patients and care providers is not possible in this type of study.

Synthesis of the findings

Quality of life was determined at baseline and after the intervention. In Table 3, outcomes on quality of life are summarized. Five studies reported statistically significant differences between the intervention group and the control group in one or more domains of the quality of life instrument.^{16,18,21,23,24} Four of these studies used the Chronic Respiratory Questionnaire (CRQ) to determine quality of life.^{16,18,23,24} Güell et al.¹⁸ and Cambach et al.²³ found statistically significant improvement in quality of life between the intervention group and the control group for all four domains of the CRQ. Rea et al.¹⁶ reported statistically significant changes in the 'fatigue' and 'mastery' domain,

and Wijkstra et al.²⁴ in the 'mastery' domain of the CRQ. In the study by Emery et al.,²¹ a statistically significant improvement in quality of life was found between patients in the intervention group and the control group, using the Sickness Impact Profile.

Table 3 also shows which studies reported clinically relevant differences in quality of life between baseline and after the intervention among the intervention group and the control group. Seven studies found differences above the minimal clinically important difference threshold in the intervention group^{16–20,23,24}; in four studies, clinically relevant improvements in the control group were seen.^{16,17,19,20} Güell et al.,¹⁸ Cambach et al.²³ and Wijkstra et al.²⁴ reported differences in the CRQ above the minimal clinically significant difference threshold in the intervention group, and no clinically relevant improvements in the control group. ^{18,23,24} No clinically significant deteriorations were found in any of the studies.

Discussion

In this review, outcome on quality of life of 10 chronic disease management trials concerning integrated care in patients with stable COPD were reviewed. Five studies showed statistically significant positive effects on one or more subscales of the quality of life instruments in the intervention group, compared with the control group. This included all trials partly located in primary care. These three trials also showed clinically significant improvements in quality of life in the intervention group. In addition to

	N	Sex (% male) intervention- control	Mean age intervention/ control	FEV1 (%pred) intervention/ control	Instruments used to assess quality of life	Statistical outcomes on quality of life between groups	Clinical relevant outcomes on quality of life I	Clinical relevant outcomes on quality of life C
Rea et al. ¹⁶	117	42 (total)	68 (total)	52/50	CRQ, SF36	* (CRQ) + (SF-36)	= (SF-36) - (CRQ)	– (CRQ) + (SF-36)
Monninkhof et al. ¹⁵	248	67/69	65/65	56/58	SGRQ	=		_ ` ` `
Bourbeau et al. ¹⁷	191	52/59	69/70	n.a.	CRQ	=	+	+
Güell et al. ¹⁸	47	100/100	63/65	32/41	CRQ	*	+	_
Ringbeak et al. ¹⁹	45	4/29	62/65	50/44	SGRQ	=	+	+
Engström et al. ²⁰	50	54/50	66/77	31/34	SGRQ, SIP	= (SGRQ) = (SIP)	+ (SGRQ) n.a. (SIP)	+ (SGRQ) n.a. (SIP)
Emery et al. ²¹	79	a:50/48 b:42	65/67 67	43/39 43	SIP	a:* `´	n.a.	n.a.
Bendstrup et al. ²²	32	56/56	64/65	1.02L/min 1.04L/min	CRQ	=	-	-
Cambach et al. ²³	23	47/75	62/62	59/60	CRQ	*	+	-
Wijkstra et al. ²⁴	36	c:73/92 d:83	62/62 64	43/43 45	CRQ	c: = d: [*]	c:- d:+	-

Table 3 Characteristics of study participants and outcomes on quality of life

a: Intervention with exercise training; b: intervention without exercise training; c: intervention with weekly session with physiotherapist; d: intervention with monthly session with physiotherapist. CRQ, Chronic Respiratory Questionnaire; SGRQ, St. George Respiratory Questionnaire; SF-36, Short Form-36; SIP, Sickness Impact Profile. *, Statistically significant improvement one or more quality of life domains; =, no statistically significant changes on any quality of life domains; +, clinically relevant improvement one or more quality of life domains; -, no clinically relevant improvement one or more quality of life domains (minimal clinical relevant difference CRQ: 0.5 points on seven-point scale; SGRQ, four points; SF-36, 3–5 points; SIP, not determined); n.a., not applicable.

primary care, secondary-care professionals, including general physicians, physiotherapists, nurses, and pulmonary specialists, were involved in these projects. Most of the trials included in this review studied the effects of pulmonary rehabilitation, including exercise.^{15,17-24} This confirms the findings of Lacasse et al.,²⁵ who recently carried out a meta-analysis of 23 randomized-controlled trials of inpatient, outpatient, and home-based pulmonary rehabilitation programmes for people with COPD. Pulmonary rehabilitation showed statistically significant and clinically relevant improvements in HRQOL, irrespective of whether or not they were part of integrated care. Two studies selected in our review assessed the effects of self-management.^{15,17} Only one study reported improvements in quality of life domains. This supports the inconclusive findings of a systematic review studying the effects of self-management programmes on quality of life outcomes.²⁶ In our study, positive effects relating to quality of life were particularly seen when the disease-specific instrument CRO was used to determine quality of life. General quality of life instruments are apparently less sensitive to detecting differences in quality of life in interventions for people with COPD. For other chronic diseases, such as diabetes, heart failure and depression, studies on chronic disease management, including primary care, showed inconclusive results on quality of life. Some studies found statistically significant improvements in quality of life between the intervention group and the control group,^{27,28} whereas other studies found no differences in quality of life.^{29,30}

The results of this review need to be interpreted with caution. First, large variations were found in study population, design, duration, content, outcomes and intensity of the interventions. All included studies were randomizedcontrolled trials, with substantial variation in methodological quality. The trials were not blinded for obvious practical reasons, and quality of life outcomes were not always shown properly, as guality of life was not the primary outcome in all the studies. Second, selection bias may have occurred because we relied on English papers. Third, the current selection of studies did not focus on the all the effects of chronic disease management or integrated care programmes. In most of these studies, only one or more components were applied (i.e. multiple treatment modalities or self-management interventions). In addition, in most studies, little information was provided on the specific characteristics of collaboration between different disciplines. The current model of chronic disease management and integrated care, embraced by the World Health Organization, have their origins in the chronic care model developed by Wagner.³¹ He identified six essential elements for quality in chronic care: community resources and policies, health-care organization, self-management support for patients, delivery-system design, decision support, and clinical information systems. The studies in this review did not include all elements of this chronic care model. In the chronic care model, successful chronic disease management requires a co-ordinated multidisciplinary care team.³¹ Quality of communication and collaboration between care providers, and communication with patients, seems to be highly important in improving care for chronically ill patients. Lack of information, however, detracts from the elements of co-operation that are essential for successful outcome. Our findings are consistent with a recent systematic review,³² showing that data on efficacy of elements of the chronic care model are limited in patients with COPD. However, the authors applied different inclusion criteria in their analysis, and therefore were able to pool data; they also could not detect significant changes in quality of life.

To date, only Casas et al.³³ have studied all the effects of shared and integrated COPD care between primary-care teams and hospital teams, aiming at generating synergies among different levels of the health-care system and avoiding duplication. Although no improvements in HRQOL were observed, the proposed model of integration between disciplines and health-care systems offers great potential in reducing hospital rates.³³ As this trial only focused on patients with exacerbated COPD, it was excluded from the current review.

Conclusion

The number of studies of chronic disease management and integration of care for patients with stable COPD that have assessed outcome on quality of life is limited. It is inconclusive whether these programmes, with different levels of integration, improve quality of life. Involvement of primary care in managing COPD seems to have a positive effect on the quality of life of these patients. However, the level of effective integrated care needs to be determined. Implementation in daily practice also needs to be assessed for feasibility and sustainability (including economic). Future research on the effectiveness of chronic disease management programmes should focus on structural implementation strategies of guidelines for managing COPD in primary and secondary care. In addition, more scientific evidence is needed to define the optimal approach of delivering and co-ordinating comprehensive COPD care across different health-care systems.

Practice points

- Data on efficacy of chronic disease management and elements of the chronic care model in patients with COPD are limited.
- It is inconclusive whether chronic disease management programmes in people with stable COPD can improve HRQOL.
- Involvement of primary care seems to have a positive effect on HRQOL in people with stable COPD.

Research directions

- The benefits of structural implementation of multidisciplinary guidelines involving both primary and secondary care needs to be more clearly defined.
- The most effective method of integrating different disciplines and healthcare systems and avoiding fragmentation and discontinuation of COPD care remains to be determined.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare absence of any financial and personal relationships with people or organizations that could influence the content of this review.

Acknowledgements

We thank the authors of the original articles for providing additional data on their publications. Financial sponsors were not involved in any aspect of realization of this manuscript.

References

- Pauwels RA, Buist AS, Calverley PM, Jenkins CR, Hurd SS. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;163:1256–76.
- 2. Ramsey SD, Sullivan SD. The burden of illness and economic evaluation for COPD. *Eur Respir J Suppl* 2003;41:29s–35s.
- Seemungal TA, Donaldson GC, Paul EA, Bestall JC, Jeffries DJ, Wedzicha JA. Effect of exacerbation on quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:1418–22.
- Siafakas NM, Vermeire P, Pride NB, et al. Optimal assessment and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The European Respiratory Society Task Force. Eur Respir J 1995;8:1398–420.
- 5. BTS guidelines for the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The COPD Guidelines Group of the Standards of Care Committee of the BTS. *Thorax* 1997; 52(Suppl. 5):S1–S28.
- American Thoracic Society. Standards for the diagnosis and care of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995;152:S77–S121.
- Celli BR, MacNee W. Standards for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with COPD: a summary of the ATS/ERS position paper. *Eur Respir J* 2004;23:932–46.
- Ouwens M, Wollersheim H, Hermens R, Hulscher M, Grol R. Integrated care programmes for chronically ill patients: a review of systematic reviews. *Int J Qual Health Care* 2005; 17:141–6.
- Weingarten SR, Henning JM, Badamgarav E, et al. Interventions used in disease management programmes for patients with chronic illness-which ones work? Meta-analysis of published reports. *BMJ* 2002;325:925.
- Norris SL, Glasgow RE, Engelgau MM, O'Connor PJ, McCulloch D. Chronic disease management; a definition and systematic approach to component interventions. *Dis Manage Health Outcomes* 2003;11:477–88.
- 11. Grone O, Garcia-Barbero M. Integrated care: a position paper of the WHO European office for integrated health care services. *Int J Integr Care* 2001;1:e21.
- Jones PW, Bosh TK. Quality of life changes in COPD patients treated with salmeterol. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155: 1283–9.
- Carr AJ, Gibson B, Robinson PG. Measuring quality of life: is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? *BMJ* 2001;**322**:1240–3.
- van TM, Furlan A, Bombardier C, Bouter L. Updated method guidelines for systematic reviews in the cochrane collaboration back review group. *Spine* 2003;28:1290–9.
- 15. Monninkhof E, van der Valk P, van der Palen J, van Herwaarden C, Zielhuis G. Effects of a comprehensive self-management

programme in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 2003;**22**:815–20.

- Rea H, McAuley S, Stewart A, Lamont C, Roseman P, Didsbury P. A chronic disease management programme can reduce days in hospital for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Intern Med J* 2004;34:608–14.
- Bourbeau J, Julien M, Maltais F. Reduction of hospital utilization in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a disease-specific self-management intervention. *Arch Intern Med* 2003;163:585–91.
- Güell R, Casan P, Belda J, et al. Long-term effects of outpatient rehabilitation of COPD: a randomized trial. *Chest* 2000;117: 976–83.
- 19. Ringbaek TJ, Broendum E, Hemmingsen LC, et al. Rehabilitation of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Exercise twice a week is not sufficient. *Respir Med* 2000;**94**: 150–4.
- Engstrom CP, Persson LO, Larsson S, Sullivan M. Long-term effects of a pulmonary rehabilitation programme in outpatients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized controlled study. Scand J Rehabil Med 1999;31:207–13.
- 21. Emery CF, Schein RL, Hauck ER, MacIntyre NR. Psychological and cognitive outcomes of a randomized trial of exercise among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Health Psychol* 1998;17:232–40.
- 22. Bendstrup KE, Ingemann JJ, Holm S, Bengtsson B. Out-patient rehabilitation improves activities of daily living, quality of life and exercise tolerance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 1997;10:2801–6.
- Cambach W, Chadwick-Straver RV, Wagenaar RC, van Keimpema AR, Kemper HC. The effects of a community-based pulmonary rehabilitation programme on exercise tolerance and quality of life: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur Respir J* 1997;10: 104–13.
- Wijkstra PJ, van der Mark TW, Kraan J, van Altena R, Koeter GH, Postma DS. Effects of home rehabilitation on physical performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Eur Respir J 1996;9:104–10.
- 25. Lacasse Y, Goldstein R, Lasserson TJ, Martin S. Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006(4).
- Monninkhof EM, van der Valk PD, van der Palen J, et al. Selfmanagement education for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003(4).
- Doughty RN, Wright SP, Pearl A, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of integrated heart failure management: The Auckland Heart Failure Management Study. *Eur Heart J* 2002;23:139–46.
- Kasper EK, Gerstenblith G, Hefter G, et al. A randomized trial of the efficacy of multidisciplinary care in heart failure outpatients at high risk of hospital readmission. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;39:471–80.
- Weinberger M, Oddone EZ, Henderson WG. Does increased access to primary care reduce hospital readmissions? Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study Group on Primary Care and Hospital Readmission. N Engl J Med 1996;334:1441–7.
- Stewart S, Marley JE, Horowitz JD. Effects of a multidisciplinary, home-based intervention on unplanned readmissions and survival among patients with chronic congestive heart failure: a randomised controlled study. *Lancet* 1999;354:1077–83.
- 31. Wagner EH. The role of patient care teams in chronic disease management. *BMJ* 2000;**320**:569–72.
- Adams SG, Smith PK, Allan PF, Anzueto A, Pugh JA, Cornell JE. Systematic review of the chronic care model in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease prevention and management. *Arch Intern Med* 2007;167:551–61.
- Casas A, Troosters T, Garcia-Aymerich J, Roca J, Hernandez C, Alonso A, et al. Integrated care prevents hospitalisations for exacerbations in COPD patients. *Eur Respir J* 2006;28:123–30.